ANNUAL REPORT (2013 to 2014)

Multistate Project NC1201: Methods to Increase Reproductive Efficiency in Cattle

Date of Annual Meeting: 09/04 - 09/05/2014 Period Report Covers: 10/01/2013 - 09/30/2014

PARTICPANTS

Bob Cushman Carl Dahlen Paul Fricke Deb Hamernik Cliff Lamb Jamie Larson Dave Patterson Teresa Steckler Jeff Stevenson

MINUTES

Cliff Lamb and colleagues hosted the annual NC1201 meeting at the North Florida Research and Education Center in Marianna, FL. Carl Dahlen served as Chair of the meeting. Teresa Steckler served as secretary. Attendees gave an overview of work conducted since the last meeting. Cliff provided a tour of the laboratory facilities, animal facilities, and new student dormitories on campus. Deb Hamernik (Administrative Advisor) thanked Cliff for hosting the meeting. She reminded the group that Bill Ravlin (former Administrative Advisor) recently moved to Michigan State University to be Head of the Department of Entomology. The group expressed appreciation to Bill for his many years of working with this committee. Deb reminded the group that this project will be up for mid-term review in January 2015. The 2014 annual report should be submitted by the end of December so that reviewers can access this information. Reviewers will look at attendance, accomplishments, impacts, and publications during the mid-term review. Jeff Stevenson volunteered to serve as Secretary in 2015. The next annual meeting will be hosted by Dave Patterson in Missouri. Potential dates are September 10-11, 2015. Teresa Steckler would like to host the 2016 meeting in Illinois.

OBJECTIVES

List objective(s) worked on. The objectives listed in the project are:

- 1) To determine mechanisms that regulate reproductive processes impacting production efficiency in cattle.
- 2) To increase the efficiency and predictability of sustainable reproductive management programs for cattle

Accomplishments

- OBJECTIVE 1
 - 1) Animals with greater concentrations of circulating estradiol prior to fixed-time AI experienced an up-regulation of the steroidogenic pathway during the preovulatory period,

thus management methods to up regulate the entire steroidogenic pathway are necessary. (South Dakota State University)

- 2) Treatment with exogenous GnRH was able to increase circulating concentrations of estradiol, but not as quickly or to the magnitude of the HighE2 animals. (South Dakota)
- 3) Selecting only cows that have exhibited estrus before timed artificial insemination can improve pregnancy success, and the pathways reported here give a starting point to investigate how preovulatory estradiol concentrations are impacting fertilization, early embryo development, and overall pregnancy success. (South Dakota)
- Administration of bST during the time of TAI enhances plasma IGF-1 concentrations, but fails to improve pregnancy rates, fetal size and PSPB concentrations in suckled beef cows. (Florida)
- 5) Supplementation of a dietary cation-anion difference balancer (Bio-Chlor) did not alter milk production of beef cows or subsequent calf performance. (Florida)
- 6) An experiment was conducted to determine the effect of dietary n-3 polyunstaurated fatty acids supplementation (n-3 PUFA; Megalac-R) on pregnancy rates of primiparous cows exposed to fixed-time AI (TAI). Final pregnancy rates were unaffected by treatment. Forty percent of CTRL cows had initiated estrous cycles at TAI, whereas 30% of MLAC had initiated estrous cycles at TAI. (Florida)
- 7) Recently, a syncytin variant has been identified in cattle and sheep, syncytin-Rum1. Syncytin expression is detectable in beef heifers up to d 34 of pregnancy. (North Dakota)
- 8) Analysis of a limited number of candidate gene polymorphisms from the University of Florida indicated that estradiol signaling was an important up-stream regulator of pregnancy rate in dairy cows. To examine this in beef heifers, we performed pathway analysis of genes within 100 Kb of nominally significant markers (P < 0.05) for heifer pregnancy rate in our genome-wide association study. Pathway analysis of those genes demonstrated that estradiol was a strong up-stream regulator of these differentially expressed genes. Progesterone pathways were not activated in this model. Together, these data provide strong mechanistic evidence for the importance of estradiol in regulating fertility at the level of the uterus in cows. Identification of and selection for functional polymorphisms in the steroidogenic pathway and estradiol signaling pathway should improve fertility and decrease the incidence of silent estrus or estrus without ovulation. (US MARC)</p>
- 7) We hypothesized that heifers exposed to a lower nutrition level during the peripuberal period would have less methylation of the DNA in the mammary gland and ovarian cortex. Our hypothesis that modifying peripubertal nutrition modifies global methylation of the mammary and ovary is not supported; however, our hypothesis that it modifies the ovarian reserve is supported. Three transcripts that were differentially expressed were members of the SLIT/ROBO family that have been implicated in primordial follicle formation. Combined with the morphometric data, these results suggest that the increase in primordial follicle number may be in part due to an increase in primordial follicle formation in Stair-Step heifers during the re-feed period. (US MARC)
- 8) As pregnant heifers grazing corn residue, winter range (WR) heifers tended to have reduced ADG compared with heifers that grazed winter range and corn residue (CR). Furthermore, in CR heifers had greater ADG grazing corn residue as pregnant heifers compared with drylot-developed heifers. Calving date, dystocia score, and calf birth BW were similar between development systems in both experiments. There appears to be a potential learned grazing behavior for heifers developed on corn residue allowing them to

better adapt to grazing corn residue as pregnant heifers compared with winter range and drylot heifers. (Nebraska)

- 9) Economic analysis revealed a \$58 reduced development cost for heifers developed to 55% compared with 62% of mature breeding weight without a loss in reproductive performance. (Nebraska)
- 10) We examined whether the induction of an accessory CL, via human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), alters blood perfusion of CL, peripheral concentrations of progesterone, or hepatic steroid inactivating enzymes. The experiment provided evidence that although an ovary with 2 CL has increased overall blood perfusion compared to an ovary with 1 CL, this did not correspond to a change in circulating concentration of progesterone or a change in liver enzymes relating to progesterone clearance. Further research can lead to understanding the relationship to blood perfusion and progesterone. In addition, the technique of determining blood perfusion can be used in other physiological experiments. (Mississippi)
- 11) An experiment was conducted to examine the effects of maternal nutrient restriction during mid- to late gestation on uterine blood flow in multiparous Angus beef cows. Overall blood flow to the uterus did not change when dams were nutrient restricted, therefore, this may not impact immediate fetal growth and development. (Mississippi)
- OBJECTIVE 2
 - 1) Presynchronization with GnRH 6 d before beginning an Ovsynch protocol increased P4 at the PGF injection of an Ovsynch protocol, and a second PGF injection 24 h after the first decreased P4 at TAI resulting in more P/AI in resynchronized cows. (Wisconsin)
 - 2) Cows maintaining their original CL for 32 d after TAI were initially pregnant but underwent pregnancy loss based on residual serum PAG levels at 24 and 32 d after TAI. (Wisconsin)
 - Low relative PAG levels in both milk and serum resulted in NP and RC outcomes in pregnant cows using these assays and that both parity and milk production affected relative PAG levels in milk and serum. (Wisconsin)
 - 4) Both clinical and subclinical mastitis influenced P/AI and differences in P/AI were observed among etiologies and clinical presentation. (Wisconsin)
 - 5) Delaying the timing of AI, the second injection of GnRH, or both, may be warranted to allow enough time for progesterone concentrations to decrease sufficiently in response to a larger dose of PG on d 6 to prevent a reduction in conception. (Kansas)
 - 6) Progesterone status preceding synchronization was explored in a large number of cows exposed to CO-Synch-like synchronization programs. Consistent in all models were the significant effects of progesterone supplementation, hormone initiating the synchronization program, parity, BCS, days postpartum, and progesterone status assessed in 3 ways. Progesterone status at the onset of synchronization was not critical to pregnancy outcome in multiparous cows, whereas pregnancy rate per Al was suppressed in primiparous cows starting in a low-progesterone environment (metestrus, estrus, or anestrus). Progesterone status at the onset of the synchronization program is critical to pregnancy outcomes in primiparous but not multiparous cows, reinforcing the necessity of developing heifers adequately for early puberty to increase the proportion that calve early in the calving season, which is related to their first postpartum reproductive performance. (Kansas)
 - 7) By using estrus-detection patches and inseminating cows at 2 different times, one can maximize the number of AI-achieved pregnancies without significantly more labor. (Kansas)
 - 8) Cows with an activated patch at 58 h had higher pregnancy rates than cows with unactivated

patches. The interaction between patch status and PGF2 α to timed AI interval could be of importance for increasing precise timing of AI in mature beef cows. (Nebraska)

- 9) Pregnancy rates were greater for CO-Synch + CIDR compared to the CO-Synch synchronization protocol, resulting in more calves born earlier in the calving season and a \$55.22/cow increased net return utilizing the CO-Synch + CIDR protocol. (Nebraska)
- 10) Ovulation in response to GnRH-1 at the onset of the 5dCO protocol reduced estrous response and timed-AI pregnancy rates in suckled beef cows. (Minnesota)
- 11) Omission of the initial GnRH treatment in the 5-d CO-Synch + CIDR program did not influence TAI pregnancy rate in yearling beef heifers. Moreover, an additional dose of PGF at CIDR removal did not improved fertility in these yearling beef heifers, regardless of whether or not the initial GnRH treatment was given. (Minnesota)
- 12) There may be a potential to improve FTAI pregnancy rates by delaying insemination of nonestrous females. Use of an estrus detection aid may be useful for producers in classifying females as having expressed estrus or as having failed to express estrus prior to FTAI. Females classified as having expressed estrus could be inseminated at the standard time, and females classified as not having expressed estrus could receive GnRH followed by insemination 20 h later. (Missouri)
- 13) A meta-analysis revealed that among all currently recommended fixed-time AI protocols (CO-Synch, CO-Synch+CIDR, 5-d CIDR, PG 6-d CIDR, and the 14-d CIDR protocols), cows expressing estrus before fixed-time AI improved conception rates, and BCS and estrus-cycling status had the greatest influence on expression of estrus. (South Dakota)
- 14) Pregnancy success was significantly influenced by time of insemination and estrus expression, but was not influenced by semen, or any interactions. (South Dakota)
- 15) Administration of PGF2α at CIDR insertion of the CO-Synch + CIDR protocol decreased concentrations of P4 and increased dominant follicle diameter at CIDR removal, but failed to increase TAI pregnancy rates in suckled beef cows. (Florida)
- 16) Administration of PGF2α at CIDR insertion of the CO-Synch + CIDR protocol decreased concentrations of P4 and failed to increase dominant follicle diameter at CIDR removal and failed to increase TAI pregnancy rates in suckled beef cows.
- 17) Breeding system of origin did not influence growth rate during the development phase, attainment of puberty, or pregnancy rates in crossbred beef heifers. (North Dakota)
- 18) When modified-live or killed pre-breeding vaccines were administered per label recommendations no impacts on pregnancy attainment of calving distribution were observed. (North Dakota)
- 19) Managing cow-calf pairs for a 10 d synchronization period in a dry lot setting did not have detrimental effects on pregnancy rates in beef females but reductions in calf weights were still observed on d 35 after breeding compared with cattle managed on pastures. (North Dakota)
- 20) Low dose aspirin consumption in beef heifers did not impact ovulation to an ovulation synchronization protocol or concentrations of progesterone during the subsequent luteal phase up to d 14. (North Dakota)
- 21) The PregCard system allowed us to evaluate the impact of routine management practices on reported pregnancy rates in groups of beef females. (North Dakota)
- 22) Administration of 25 mg PGF 24 hours prior or 12.5 mg PGF at the initiation of the CO-Synch + CIDR protocol does not improve pregnancy rates. (Illinois)
- 23) Managing calving distribution data to improve reproductive decisions in beef herds in the northern plains. Preliminary results from 14 herds (3253 cows) indicate that approximately

43 % of the herds participating had an average calving day greater than 21. There is continued difficulty with record keeping/data management on the majority of these ranches. (US MARC)

24) The influence of puberty and antral follicle count on calving day in cross-bred beef heifers was examined. There was no relationship between puberty and calving day; however, when heifers were classified based on calving period, pre-breeding antral follicle number decreased as calving period increased. The average antral follicle count was not less than the cut-off that has been used to categorize a cow as "Low" and indicates that these arbitrary cut-offs may be of limited value. (US MARC)

IMPACTS

- 1. Results from current and ongoing research have been used to make recommendations to stakeholders and their consultants regarding implementation of systematic synchronization and resynchronization systems for lactating dairy cows as well as timing and methods for pregnancy diagnosis.
- 2. Using estrus-detection patches as part of a fixed time AI program allows managers to inseminate beef cows in two groups. The first group includes cows detected in estrus, which are inseminated at 60 h after the end of the program, whereas in the second group of cows not in estrus at 60 h, AI is delayed approximately 15 h. In doing so, the percentage of cows with AI calves in the first group should average 65% and that in the second group should average more than 50%. As a result, for the same or lesser amount of input costs for materials, the proportion of AI calves should increase by 50%.
- 3. Analysis of previous studies involving more than 8,500 suckled beef cows. Management changes that increase body condition scores of cows that result in earlier calving during the next calving season may increase their AI pregnancy outcomes in the next breeding season by 25 to 30%. In addition, pregnancy outcomes in 2-year-old cows can be improved by increasing their progesterone status before the breeding period. Treatments that induce earlier estrous cycles are possible remedies in addition to earlier breeding of heifers compared with the cow herd so heifers calve earlier in their first breeding season as cows. Pregnancy rates per AI in 2-year-old cows that initiated estrous cycles before applying a fixed time AI program were increased by 30% compared with their anestrous contemporaries.
- 4. Low input heifer development systems have resulted in a significant savings per pregnant heifer over conventional heifer development systems.
- 5. Synchronization systems decrease date of conception during the breeding season.
- 6. In beef cows, failure to respond to GnRH-1 at the onset of the 5-d CO-Synch + CIDR protocol did not negatively impact pregnancy rates, rather, cows failing to ovulation to GnRH-1 had greater timed-AI pregnancy rates. These results suggest that the necessity of GnRH-1 in the 5-d protocol in beef cows be investigated.
- In beef heifers enrolled in the 5-d protocol, the administration of GnRH at CIDR insertion is not required. Furthermore, a single dose of prostaglandin is adequate for ovulation synchronization. Such a modification reduces the cost of implementing this protocol.
- 8. Development of breeding strategies that optimize FTAI pregnancy rates when using sex-sorted and conventional semen are timely given the need to rebuild the US beef cow herd.
- 9. Selecting only cows that have exhibited estrus before timed artificial insemination can improve pregnancy success.
- 10. Researcher have also documented that the adaptation of TAI results in a \$49.14 advantage per exposed cow compared to natural service. Therefore, in FL alone each, if every cow were to be

exposed to an estrous synchronization and artificial insemination protocol it would increase profitability of the FL beef cattle industry by \$82.3 million per year.

- 11. Based on economic research, the AI Cowculator is a smartphone application for Android and iPhone/iPad users that may be downloaded free of charge and is a decision aid tool to assist producers to determine whether they should consider TAI rather than purchasing herd sires for their cow herds. This application has been downloaded by 1,025 people in 38 states and four countries. In addition, the excel version of the economic model has been downloaded 138 times by industry professionals. The Facebook page developed as a support supplement to the AI Cowculator has received 430 'likes' and reaches between 50 and 900 readers for every post.
- 12. We developed a novel animal model that allows us to collect uterine endometrium and placental tissues in a fiscally responsible manner during the understudied windows of early pregnancy.
- 13. A breeding system that incorporated a single fixed-time artificial insemination resulted in similar year-end pregnancy rates, an earlier average calf birth date, lower birth weights, and heavier calves born within the first 21 days of the calving season compared to a breeding system that relayed solely on natural service.
- 14. We established a system to monitor real-time pregnancy rate data in the Upper Great Plains and subsequently enabled veterinarians to provide individual consultation on 1,782 beef operations representing 242,967 beef females. This system capitalized on the opportunity to capture a portion of the data that sentinel veterinary clinics can provide our industry and allowed us to evaluate the impact of recommended best management practices on herd level reproductive performance.
- 15. While reproductive traits are lowly heritable, the identification of polymorphisms in signaling cascades of hormones indicate that marker assisted selection using these polymorphisms may be the best way to improve response to exogenous hormones and insure that fertility is not negatively impacted by selection for production traits. Understanding these pathways may also help to decrease the variation we observe in response to estrogens and progestins in synchronization protocols.
- 16. Nutritional programming in the post-weaning period can improve ovarian development, leading to increased herd life.
- 17. Educating producers on using calving records to understand their calving distributions can aid them in making proper reproductive management decisions for their herd.
- 18. Pre-breeding ultrasounds to evaluate the status of the reproductive tract can help in selecting beef heifers that will calve early to increased life time productivity.
- 19. Isolating factors that affect reproductive efficiency in cattle is of growing importance as we work to improve overall production efficiency in efforts to feed a growing human population. These experiments and the techniques developed in them can facilitate the research necessary to improve reproductive efficiency and beyond. These discoveries are not only important for the science but also for the individual producer working to make the system profitable.

PUBLICATIONS

PEER-REVIEWED JOURNAL ARTICLES:

Carvalho, P. D., J. N. Guenther, M. J. Fuenzalida, M. C. Amundson, M. C. Wiltbank, and **P. M. Fricke**. 2014. Presynchronization using a modified Ovsynch protocol or a single GnRH injection 7 d before an Ovsynch-56 protocol for submission of lactating dairy cows for first timed Al. J. Dairy Sci. (in press).

- Carvalho, P. D., K. S. Hackbart, R. W. Bender, G. M. Baez, A. R. Dresch, J. N. Guenther, A. H. Souza, and P. M. Fricke. 2014. Use of a single injection of long-acting recombinant bovine FSH to superovulate Holstein heifers: a preliminary study. Theriogenology 82:481-489.
- Fricke, P. M., J. O. Giordano, P. D. Carvalho, A. Valenza, G. Lopes Jr., and M. C. Amundson. 2014. Expression and detection of oestrus in dairy cows: the role of new technologies. Animal 8:s1, pp. 134-143.
- Wiltbank, M. C., A. H. Souza, P. D. Carvalho, A. P. Cunha, J. O. Giordano, P. M. Fricke, G. M. Baez, and M. G. Diskin. 2014. Physiological and practical effects of progesterone on reproduction in dairy cattle. Animal 8:s1, pp. 70-81.
- Carvalho, P. D., A. H. Souza, M. C. Amundson, K. S. Hackbart, M. J. Fuenzalida, M. M. Herlihy, H. Ayres, A. R. Dresch, L. M. Vieira, J. N. Guenther, P. M. Fricke, R. D. Shaver, and M. C. Wiltbank. 2014.
 Association between fertility and postpartum changes in body condition and body weight in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97:3666-3683.
- Fricke, P. M., J. O. Giordano, A. Valenza, G. Lopes Jr., M. C. Amundson, and P. D. Carvalho. 2014. Reproductive performance of lactating dairy cows managed for first service using timed artificial insemination with or without detection of estrus using an activity monitoring system. J. Dairy Sci. 97:2771-2781.
- Shahinfar, S., D. Page., J. N. Guenther, V. E. Cabrera, P. M. Fricke, and K. A. Weigel. 2014. Prediction of insemination outcomes in Holstein dairy cattle using alternative machine learning algorithms. J. Dairy Sci. 97:731-742.
- Bender, R. W., K. S. Hackbart, A. R. Dresch, P. D. Carvalho, L. M. Vieira, P. M. Crump, J. N. Guenther, P. M. Fricke, R. D. Shaver, D. K. Combs, M. C. Wiltbank. 2014. Effects of acute feed restriction combined with targeted use of increasing LH content of FSH preparations on superovulation and embryo quality in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97:764-778.
- **Stevenson, J. S**., S. L. Hill, **G. A. Bridges**, J. E. Larson, and **G. C. Lamb**. 2014 Progesterone status, parity, body condition, and days postpartum before estrus- or ovulation-synchronization in suckled beef cattle influences artificial insemination pregnancy outcomes. J. Anim. Sci. Submitted.
- **Stevenson, J. S**., S. L. Pulley, and S. L. Hill. 2014. Pregnancy outcomes after change in dose delivery of prostaglandin F2α in a 5-day timed artificial insemination program in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97: In press.
- **Stevenson, J. S**., S. L. Hill, R. L. Nebel, and J. M. DeJarnette. 2014. Ovulation timing and conception risk after automated activity monitoring in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97:4296-4308.
- Hill, S. L., **G. A. Perry**, V. R. G. Mercadante, **G. C. Lamb**, J. R. Jaeger, KC Olson, and **J. S. Stevenson**. 2014. Altered progesterone concentrations by hormonal manipulations before a fixed-time artificial insemination CO-Synch + CIDR program in suckled beef cows. Theriogenology 79:127-134.
- Bilby, T.R., R.G.S. Bruno, K.H. Lager, R.C. Chebel, J.G.N. Moraes, P.M. Fricke, G. Lopes Jr., J.O. Giordano, J.E.P. Santos, F.S. Lima, J.S. Stevenson, and S.L. Pulley. 2013. Supplemental progesterone and timing of resychronization on pregnancy outcomes in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 96:7032-7042.
- Stockton, M.C., R.K. Wilson, D.M. Feuz, L.A. Stalker, and **R.N. Funston**. 2014. Bio-economic factors of beef heifer maturity to consider when establishing criteria to optimally select and/or, retain herd replacements. *J. Anim. Sci.* 92:.
- Harms, J.D., A.F. Summers, and **R.N. Funston**. 2014. Effect of two ovulation synchronization protocols on reproductive performance of May calving cows. *Prof. Anim. Sci.* 29:
- Lardner, H.A., D. Damiran, S. Hendrick, K. Larson, and **R. Funston**. 2014. Effect of development system on growth and reproductive performance of beef heifers. *J. Anim. Sci.* 92:3116-3126.

- Summers, A.F., S.P. Weber, H.A. Lardner, and **R.N. Funston**. 2014. Effect of beef heifer development system on average daily gain, reproduction, and adaptation to corn residue during first pregnancy. *J. Anim. Sci.* 92:2620-2629.
- Cruppe, L.H., M.L. Day, F.M. Abreu, S.G. Kruse, S.L. Lake, M.V. Biehl, R.S. Cipriano, M.L. Mussard, and
 G.A. Bridges. 2014. The requirement of GnRH at the beginning of 5-d CO-Synch + CIDR program in beef heifers. J. Anim. Science. Accepted. PMID: 25057035
- Gunn, P.J. R.P. Lemenager, **G.A. Bridges**. 2014. Using corn stover and dried distiller's grains with solubles to conserve stockpiled forages and improve reproductive performance and progeny growth fall-calving beef cows. Professional Anim. Sci. Accepted.
- Gunn, P.J., J.P. Schoonmaker, R.P. Lemenager, and **G.A. Bridges**. Feeding excess crude protein to gestating and lactating beef heifers: Impact on parturition, milk composition, ovarian function, reproductive efficiency and pre-weaning progeny growth. Livestock Science. Accepted.
- Bridges, G.A., S.L. Lake, S.G. Kruse, S.L. Bird, B.J. Funnell, R. Arias, J.A. Walker, J.K. Grant, and G.A. Perry. 2014. Comparison of three CIDR-based fixed-time AI protocols in beef heifers. J. Anim. Sci. 92:3127-3133.
- **Bridges, G.A.**, M.L. Mussard, L.A. Helser, and M.L. Day. 2014. Comparison of follicular dynamics and hormone concentrations between the 7-day and 5-day CO-Synch + CIDR program in primiparous beef cows. Theriogenology. 81:632-638.
- Scheffler, J.M., M.A. McCann, S.P. Greiner, H. Jiang, M.D. Hanigan, G.A. Bridges, S.L. Lake, and D.E. Gerrard. 2014. Early metabolic imprinting events increase marbling scores in fed cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 92:320-324.
- Elliott, LM, JL Parcell, DJ Patterson, MF Smith, and SE Poock. 2013. Factors influencing beef reproductive technology adoption. J. American Society Farm Managers and Rural Appraisers. AIES. 76: No 1. Pp. 100-119.
- Martin, NT, JM Thomas, JM Nash, DA Mallory, MR Ellersieck, SE Poock, MF Smith, and DJ Patterson.
 2014. Comparison of a 16 versus a 19 day interval between CIDR removal and prostaglandin following a 14 day CIDR treatment and fixed-time artificial insemination in postpartum beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 92:1757-1765.
- Thomas, JM, SL Lock, SE Poock, MR Ellersieck, MF Smith, and **DJ Patterson**. 2014. Delayed insemination of non-estrous cows improves pregnancy rates when using sex-sorted semen in timed artificial insemination of suckled beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 92:1745-1750.
- Thomas, JM, SE Poock, MR Ellersieck, MF Smith and **DJ Patterson**. 2014. Delayed insemination of nonestrous heifers and cows when using conventional semen in timed artificial insemination. J. Anim. Sci. 92:4189-4197.
- Bridges, G. A., S. L. Lake, S. G. Kruse, S. L. Bird, B. J. Funnell, R. Aries, J. A. Walker, J. K. Grant, and G. A. Perry. 2014. Comparison of three CIDR-based fixed-time AI protocols in beef heifers. J. Anim. Sci. 92:3127-3133.
- Perry, G. A., O. L. Swanson, E. L. Larimore, B. L. Perry, G. D. Djira, and R. A. Cushman. 2014.
 Relationship of follicle size and concentrations of estradiol among cows exhibiting or not exhibiting estrus during a fixed-time AI protocol. Dom. Anim. Endo. 48:15-20.
- Hill, S. L., G. A. Perry, V. R. G. Mercadante, G. C. Lamb, J. R. Jaeger, KC Olson, and J. S. Stevenson. 2014.
 Altered Progesterone Concentrations by Hormonal Manipulations before a FixedTime Artificial Insemination (TAI) CO-Synch + CIDR Program in Suckled Beef Cows. Theriogenology. 82:104-113.
- C. O. Lemley, A. M. Meyer, T. L. Neville, D. M. Hallford, K. R. Maddock-Carlin, T. A. Wilmoth, M. E. Wilson, G. A. Perry, D. A. Redmer, L. P. Reynolds, J. S. Caton, and K. A. Vonnahme. 2014. Dietary selenium and nutritional plane alters maternal endocrine profiles during pregnancy and lactation. Dom. Anim. Endo. 46:1-11.

- K. A. Vonnahme, T.L. Neville, **G. A. Perry**, D. A. Redmer, L. P. Reynolds, and J. S. Caton. 2013. Maternal dietary intake alters organ mass and endocrine and metabolic profiles in pregnant ewe lambs. Animal Reprod. Sci. 141:131-141.
- **Perry, G. A**., B. L. Perry, J. A. Walker, C. L. Wright, R. R. Salverson, and H. H. Patterson. 2013. Evaluation of prior grazing experience on reproductive performance in beef heifers. Prof. Anim. Sci. 29:595-600.
- **Dahlen, C.R.**, S.I. Klein, **G.C. Lamb**, V.R.G. Mercadante, and P.L. Steichen. 2014. Technical note: Physiological response of beef heifers after receiving a reused CIDR processed with different heattreating methods. J. Anim. Sci. 92:2275-2279.
- Demeterco, D., D.D.Henry, V.R.G. Mercadante, G.C. Lamb, F.R. Gaievski, B.W.G.N. Turbay, M.S. Segui, R.R Weiss, M.A.F. Betiol, L.E. Kozicki. 2014. The effects of intramuscular or intravenous injections of gonadotropin releasing hormone at fixed-time artificial insemination on pregnancy rates of Bos indicus beef cows. Braz. arch. biol. technol. 57(3):361-366.
- Jackson, C. G., T. L. Neville, V. R. G. Mercadante, K. M. Bischoff, G. C. Lamb, C. R. Dahlen, and R. R. Redden. 2014.Efficacy of various five-day estrous synchronization protocols in sheep. Small Rum. Res. 120:100-107.
- Black, T. E., K. M. Bischoff, V. R. G. Mercadante, G. H. L. Marquezini, N. DiLorenzo, C. C. Chase, Jr, S. W. Coleman, T. D. Maddock, and G. C. Lamb. 2013. The relationships among performance, residual feed intake, and temperament assessed in growing beef heifers and subsequently as three-year-old suckled beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 91:2254-2263.
- **Bridges, G. A.**, J. K. Ahola, C. Brauner, L. H. Cruppe, J. C. Currin, M. L. Day, P. J. Gunn, J. R. Jaeger, S. L. Lake, **G. C. Lamb**, G. H. L. Marquezini, R. K. Peel, A. E. Radunz, **J. S. Stevenson**, W. D. Whittier. 2013. Determination of the appropriate delivery of PGF2α in the 5-day CO-Synch + CIDR protocol in suckling beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 90:4814-4822.
- **Dahlen, C.R.**, S.I. Klein, **G.C. Lamb**, V.R.G. Mercadante, and P.L. Steichen. 2014. Technical note: Physiological response of beef heifers after receiving a reused CIDR processed with different heattreating methods. J. Anim. Sci. 92:2275-2279.
- Jackson, C.G., T.L. Neville, V.G.R. Mercadante, K.M. Bischoff, **G.C. Lamb**, **C.R. Dahlen**, and R.R. Redden. 2014. Efficacy of various five-day estrous synchronization protocols in sheep. Sm. Rum. Res. 120:100-107.
- Freetly HC, Vonnahme K, McNeel AK, Camacho LE, Amundson OL, Forbes ED, Lents CA, **Cushman RA**. The consequence of level of nutrition on heifer ovarian and mammary development. (In revision for J Anim Sci).
- Summers AF, Pohlmeier WE, Sargent KM, Cole BD, Vinton RJ, Kurz SG, McFee RM, **Cushman RA**, Cupp AS, Wood JR. Altered theca gene expression and ovarian follicular development in cows with follicular fluid androgen excess. (In revision for PLoS ONE).
- Lindholm-Perry AK, Kuehn LA, Oliver WT, Kern RJ, **Cushman RA**, Miles JR, McNeel AK, Freetly HC. DNA polymorphisms and transcript abundance of PRKAG2 and AMPK in the rumen are associated with gain and feed intake in beef steers. Animal Genetics 2014; 45:461-472.
- Talbott H, Delaney A, Zhang P, Yu Y, **Cushman RA**, Cupp A, Hou X, Davis JS. Effects of IL8 and immune cells on the regulation of luteal progesterone secretion. Reproduction 2014; 148:21-31.
- Lents CA, **Cushman RA**, Freking BA. Measures of ovaries and uterus during development of gilts selected for differences in uterine capacity. J Anim Sci 2014; 92:2433-2439.
- **Perry GA**, Swanson OL, Larimore EL, Perry BL, Djira DG, **Cushman RA**. Relationship of follicle size and concentrations of estradiol among cows that do and do not exhibit estrus during a fixed-time AI protocol. Dom Anim Endo 2014; 48:15-20.

- **Cushman RA**, McNeel AK, Freetly HC. The impact of cow nutrient status during the second and third trimesters on age at puberty, antral follicle count, and fertility of daughters. Livestock Sci 2014; 162:252-258.
- Mao D, Hou X, Talbott H, Wolford C, **Cushman R**, Cupp A, Davis JS. ATF3 expression in the corpus luteum: Possible role in luteal regression. Mol Endocrinol 2013; 27:2066-2079.
- Lindholm-Perry AK, Kuehn LA, Oliver WT, Sexten AK, Miles JR, Rempel LA, **Cushman RA**, Freetly HC. Adipose and muscle gene expression of two genes (NCAPG and LCORL) located in a chromosomal region associated with cattle feed intake and gain. PLoS ONE 2013; 8:e80882.
- Pfeiffer, K. E., L. J. Jury, and **J. E. Larson**. 2014. Determination of anti-Müllerian hormone at estrus during a synchronized and a natural bovine estrous cycle. Dom. Anim. Endo. 46:58-64.

ABSTRACTS:

- Carvalho, P. D., A. H. Sousa, M. C. Amundson, K. S. Hackbart, A. R. Dresch, L. M. Vieira, J. N. Guenther, R. R.Grummer, R. D. Shaver, P. M. Fricke, and M. C. Wiltbank. 2014. Relationship between fertility and postpartum changes in body condition and body weight in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97(Suppl. 1):167.
- Carvalho, P. D., M. J. Fuenzalida, A. Ricci, M. Luchterhand, J. Mulcahy, R. V. Barletta, G. M. Baez, V. G. Santos, M. C. Amundson, J. N. Guenther, A. H. Souza, M. C. Wiltbank, and P. M. Fricke. 2014. Modifications to Ovsynch improve fertility during resynchronization: Evaluation of presynchronization with GnRH 6 d before Ovsynch and addition of a second PGF treatment. J. Dairy Sci. 97(Suppl. 1):261.
- Shahinfar, S., J. N. Guenther, D. Page, A. Samia- Kalantari1, V. E. Cabrera, P. M. Fricke, and K. A. Weigel.
 2014. Optimization of dairy herd reproductive programs using cost-sensitive evaluation and lift factor analysis based on machine learning algorithms. J. Dairy Sci. 97(Suppl. 1):290.
- Fuenzalida, M. J., P.D. Carvalho, M. C. Wiltbank, P. M. Fricke, and P. L. Ruegg. 2014. Associations between severity and etiology of clinical mastitis and pregnancy outcomes to first service. J. Dairy Sci. 97(Suppl. 1):438.
- Ricci, A., P. D. Carvalho, M. C. Amundson, and P. M. Fricke. 2014. Characterization of luteal dynamics in lactating dairy cows for 32 days after synchronization of ovulation and timed artificial insemination.
 J. Dairy Sci. 97(Suppl. 1):693.
- Ricci, A., P. D. Carvalho, M. C. Amundson, L. Vincenti, and **P. M. Fricke**. 2014. Accuracy of pregnancy outcomes based on pregnancy-associated glycoproteins in milk and serum during the first trimester of gestation in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97(Suppl. 1):694.
- Carvalho, P. D., N. E. Lobos, M. Z. Toledo, E. Trevisol, V. G. Santos, R. V. Barletta, G. M. Baez, A. G. Guerra, J. N. Guenther, A. H. Souza, D. Luchini, P. M. Fricke, R. D. Shaver, and M. C. Wiltbank. 2014. Changes in plasma methionine concentrations after administration of two different doses of rumen protected methionine. J. Dairy Sci. 97(Suppl. 1):756.
- **Stevenson, J. S**., S. L. Pulley, and S.L. Hill. 2014. Luteolysis and pregnancy outcome in 5-day Resynch dairy cows after 1 or 2 injections of prostaglandin F2α. J. Dairy Sci. 97(E-Suppl. 1):692 (Abstr.).
- Mendonca, L.G.D., F. M. Mantelo, and J. S. Stevenson. 2014. Fertility of lactating dairy cows treated with gonadotropin-releasing hormone at estrus, 5 d after AI, or both, during summer heat stress. J. Dairy Sci. 97(E-Suppl. 1):692.
- Richardson, B. N., S. L. Hill, J. S. Stevenson, G. D. Djira, and G. A. Perry. 2014. Meta-analysis of the effect of estrus expression before fixed-time AI on conception rates in beef cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 92(E-Suppl. 1):701.

- Markwood, M.G., R.K. Peel, J.K. Ahola, G.E. Seidel, **R.N. Funston**, S.L. Lake, and J.C. Whittier. 2014. Effect of delaying time AI based on ESTROTECT patch status on pregnancy rates of nursing beef cows. *Proc. West. Sec. Am. Soc. Anim. Sci.* 65:79-82.
- Nielson, H.R., J.D. Harms, A.F. Summers, R.A. Vraspir, and **R.N. Funston**. 2014. Impact of heifer development system on subsequent ADG and reproduction in two different breeding seasons. J. Anim. Sci. 92(e-Suppl. 2):563. (Abstr.).
- Roberts, A., M. Petersen, and **R.N. Funston**. 2014. Can we build the cowherd by increasing longevity of females? J. Anim. Sci. 92(e-Suppl. 2):124. (Abstr.).
- Markwood, M.G., R.K. Peel, J.K. Ahola, G.E. Seidel, **R.N. Funston**, S.L. Lake, and J.C. Whittier. 2014. Effect of delaying time AI based on ESTROTECT patch status on pregnancy rates of nursing beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 92(e-Suppl. 2): (Abstr.).
- Dias, H.P., S.G. Kruse, S.L. Bird, B.J. Funnell, T. Geppert, E. Lundy, P.J. Gunn, and **G.A. Bridges**. 2014. Incidence of ovulation to GnRH at onset of 5-d CO-Synch + CIDR and impact on reproductive responses. J. Anim. Sci. 92(E-Suppl. 2):698.
- Cruppe, L.H., S.L. Lake, F.M. Abreu, S.G. Kruse, S.L. Bird, Y.K. Heaton, B.R. Harstine, M.L. Day, and **G.A. Bridges**. 2014. The effect of the initial GnRH and dose of PGF2α on pregnancy rate to TAI in beef heifers submitted to the 5-d CO-Synch + CIDR program. J. Anim. Sci. 92(E-Suppl. 2):697
- **Bridges, G. A**., R.P. Lemenager, E.G. Taylor, and P. J. Gunn. 2014. Efficacy of the 5 day CO-Synch estrous synchronization protocol with or without the inclusion of a CIDR in beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 92(E-Suppl. 2):698.
- Cruppe, L.H., R.S. Cipriano, F.M. Abreu, M.M. Mussard, K.J. Wells, G.E. Fogle, B.R. Harstine, M.D. Utt,
 G.A. Bridges, and M.L. Day. The effect of preovulatory estradiol and length of proestrus on pregnancy rates to timed-AI and embryo transfer in beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 92(E-Suppl. 2):272.
- Abreu, F.M., M.L. Day, M.A.Coutinho da Silva, C.A. Madsen, T. Martins, L.H. Cruppe, B.R. Harstine, G.A.
 Bridges, and T.W. Geary. 2014. Concentrations of progesterone during early follicular development and pregnancy rate to AI in beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 92(E-Suppl. 2):703.
- Abreu, F.M., M.A. Coutinho da Silva, L.H. Cruppe, M.L. Mussard, B.R. Harstine, T.W. Geary, G.A. Bridges, and M.L. Day. 2014. Impact of manipulation of progesterone concentrations during follicular development on ovulatory follicle growth and timed AI pregnancy rates in beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 92(E-Suppl. 2):264.
- Brown, DS, and **DJ Patterson**. 2014. Rebuilding the U.S. cowherd: Rethinking the way industry selects and develops replacements. J. Anim. Sci. In press. Abstr.
- **Patterson, DJ**, JM Thomas, DS Brown, JE Decker, WJ Sexten, and SE Poock. 2014. Management strategies for adding value to replacement beef heifers: A working model-the Missouri Show-Me-Select Replacement Heifer Program. J. Anim. Sci. In press. Abstr.
- Thomas, JM, MR Ellersieck, SE Poock, MF Smith, and **DJ Patterson**. 2014. Split-time AI: Delayed insemination of non-estrous beef heifers in timed artificial insemination following the 14-d CIDR-PG protocol. J. Anim. Sci. In press. Abstr.
- Thomas, JM, MR Ellersieck, SE Poock, MF Smith, and **DJ Patterson**. 2014. Split-time AI: Delayed insemination of non-estrous beef cows in timed artificial insemination following the 7-d CO- Synch + CIDR protocol. J. Anim. Sci. In press. Abstr.
- Larimore, E. L., O. L. Amundson, G. A. Bridges, A. K. McNeel, R. A. Cushman, G. A. Perry. 2014.
 Association of circulating concentrations of estradiol during the preovulatory period and expression of steroidogenic enzymes in Beef Cows. International Ruminant Reproduction Conference
- **Perry, G. A.**, A. K. McNeel, **R. A. Cushman**, M. G. Gonda, and B. L. Perry. 2014. Identification of changes in bovine oviductal mRNA expression by RNAseq from animals with high and low circulating

estradiol concentrations during timed artificial insemination. International Ruminant Reproduction Conference

- J. L. Vallet, R. A. Cushman, A. K. McNeel, E. C. Wright, E. Larimore, J. R. Miles, C. C. Chase, C. A. Lents, J. R. Wood, A. S. Cupp, G. A. Perry. 2014. Global changes in uterine protein secretion are associated with differences in the number of antral follicles in heifers. *Midwest ASAS 2014 abstract 200*
- Larimore, E.L., O. L. Swanson, S. Bird, **G. A. Bridges**, **G. A. Perry**. 2014. Administration of exogenous gonadotropin-releasing hormone to alter circulating concentrations of estradiol prior to a GnRH-induced ovulation in beef cows. Society for the Study of Reproduction
- McNeel, A. K., **R. A. Cushman**, W. M. Snelling, M. G. Gonda, B. L. Perry and **G. A. Perry**. 2014. De novo assembly and identification of unique contigs in the bovine oviduct from animals with high and low circulating estradiol concentrations during timed artificial insemination. Society for the Study of Reproduction
- B. N. Richardson, S. L. Hill, J. S. Stevenson, G. D. Djira, and G. A. Perry. 2014. Meta-analysis of the effect of estrus expression before fixed-time AI on conception rates in beef cattle. Journal of Animal Science
- S. E. Crego, E. L. Larimore, **G. A. Perry**. 2014. Effect of timing of artificial insemination and estrus expression using sexed semen on pregnancy rates in Holstein dairy cows. Journal of Animal Science
- Reis, M. M., R. F. Cooke, B. I. Cappellozza, R. Marques, T. Guarnieri Filho, G. A. Perry, and D. W. Bohnert.
 2014. Effects of protein supplementation frequency on metabolic responses associated with reproduction of beef cows. Journal of Animal Science
- Grings, E. E. A. Sackey, and **G. A. Perry**. 2014 Comparison of camelina meal and DDGS in the diet of replacement of beef heifers. Journal of Animal Science
- **Bridges, G. A**., R.P. Lemenager, E.G. Taylor, and P. J. Gunn. 2014. Efficacy of the 5 day CO-Synch estrous synchronization protocol with or without the inclusion of a CIDR in beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 92(E-Suppl. 2):698.
- Cruppe, L.H., R.S. Cipriano, F.M. Abreu, M.M. Mussard, K.J. Wells, G.E. Fogle, B.R. Harstine, M.D. Utt,
 G.A. Bridges, and M.L. Day. The effect of preovulatory estradiol and length of proestrus on pregnancy rates to timed-AI and embryo transfer in beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 92(E-Suppl. 2):272.
- Abreu, F.M., M.L. Day, M.A.Coutinho da Silva, C.A. Madsen, T. Martins, L.H. Cruppe, B.R. Harstine, G.A.
 Bridges, and T.W. Geary. 2014. Concentrations of progesterone during early follicular development and pregnancy rate to AI in beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 92(E-Suppl. 2):703.
- Abreu, F.M., M.A. Coutinho da Silva, L.H. Cruppe, M.L. Mussard, B.R. Harstine, T.W. Geary, G.A. Bridges, and M.L. Day. 2014. Impact of manipulation of progesterone concentrations during follicular development on ovulatory follicle growth and timed AI pregnancy rates in beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 92(E-Suppl. 2):264.
- Ciriaco, F. M., D. D. Henry, V. R. G. Mercadante, T. Schulmeister, **G. C. Lamb**, and N. DiLorenzo. 2014. Evaluation of a mixture of crude glycerol and molasses as an energy supplement for beef cattle consuming bermudagrass hay. J. Anim. Sci 92(E-Suppl. 2):353 (Abstr.)
- Henry, D. D., F. M. Ciriaco, V. R. G. Mercadante, T. Schulmeister, D. Demeterco, A. Marin, G. C. Lamb, and N. DiLorenzo. 2014. Effects of feeding chitosan on nutrient digestibility in beef heifers. J. Anim. Sci 92(E-Suppl. 2):326 (Abstr.)
- Henry, D. D., V. R. G. Mercadante, F. M. Ciriaco, P. M. Mercadante, T. Schulmeister, N. DiLorenzo, and G. C. Lamb. 2014. Potential bull buyers perceive increased value to their operations when purchasing bulls from the Florida Bull Test. J. Anim. Sci 92(E-Suppl. 2):517 (Abstr.)
- Mercadante, V. R. G., D. D. Henry, F. M. Ciriaco, P. M. Mercadante, J. C. Rodgers, N. DiLorenzo, and **G. C.** Lamb. 2014. Development and utilization of the AI Cowculator: A decision-aid application to

determine whether to utilize fixed-time artificial insemination (TAI) or purchase herd sires for natural service. J. Anim. Sci 92(E-Suppl. 2):524 (Abstr.)

- Mercadante, V. R. G., L. E. Kozicki, F. M. Ciriaco, D. D. Henry, C. R. Dahlen, R. N. Funston, J. E. Larson, G.
 A. Perry, T. L. Steckler, and G. C. Lamb. 2014. Effects of administration of prostaglandin F2α at initiation of the 7-d CO-Synch + CIDR estrus synchronization protocol for replacement beef heifers. J. Anim. Sci 92(E-Suppl. 2):261 (Abstr.)
- Mercadante, V. R. G., L. E. Kozicki, F. M. Ciriaco, D. D. Henry, C. R. Dahlen, J. E. Larson, B. E. Voelz, D. J. Patterson, G. A. Perry, T. L. Steckler, J. S. Stevenson, and G. C. Lamb. 2014. Effects of administration of prostaglandin F2α at initiation of the 7-d CO-Synch+CIDR estrus synchronization protocol for suckled beef cows. J. Anim. Sci 92(E-Suppl. 2):269 (Abstr.)
- Schook, M.R., P. L. Steichen, V. R. G. Mercadante, G. C. Lamb, B. W. Neville, and C. R. Dahlen. 2014.
 Effects of breeding system of origin (natural service or AI) on growth, attainment of puberty, and pregnancy rates in crossbred beef heifers. J. Anim. Sci 92(E-Suppl. 2):68 (Abstr.)
- Steichen, P. L., S. I. Klein, Q. Larson, K. M. Bischoff, V. R. G. Mercadante, G. C. Lamb, C. S. Schauer, B. W. Neville, and C. R. Dahlen. 2014. Effects of artificial insemination and natural service breeding systems on calving characteristics and weaning weights of resultant progeny. J. Anim. Sci 92(E-Suppl. 2):263 (Abstr.)
- Steichen, P.L., S.I. Klein, Q.P. Larson, K.M. Bischoff, V.R.G. Mercadante, G.C. Lamb, C.S. Schauer, B.W. Neville, and C.R. Dahlen. 2014. Effects of artificial insemination and natural service breeding systems on calving characteristics and weaning weights of resultant progeny. J. Anim. Sci. 92(E-Suppl. 2):263.
- Schook, M.R., P.L. Steichen, V.R.G. Mercadante, **G.C. Lamb**, B.W. Neville, and **C.R. Dahlen**. 2014. Effects of breeding system of origin (natural service or artificial insemination) on the growth, attainment of puberty, and pregnancy rates in crossbred beef heifers. J. Anim. Sci. 92(E-Suppl. 2):68.
- **Dahlen, C.R.**, S.I. Klein, **G.C. Lamb**, V.R.G. Mercadante, and P.L. Steichen. 2014. Physiological response of beef heifers after receiving a reused CIDR processed with different heat-treating methods. J. Anim. Sci. 92(Suppl. 2):88.
- **Perry GA**, McNeel AK, **Cushman RA**, Gonda MG, Perry BL. Identification of changes in bovine oviductal proteins by RNAseq from animals with high and low circulating estradiol concentrations during timed artificial insemination. Soc Reprod Fertil Suppl 2014:553.
- **Bridges GA**, Kruse SG, McNeel AK, Amundson OL, Funnell BJ, Bird SL, **Cushman RA**, Bridges GA. Effects of change in body composition on gene expression in the uterine endometrium in beef cattle. Soc Reprod Fertil Suppl 2014:554.
- Larimore EL, Swanson OL, Bridges GA, McNeel AK, **Cushman RA**, **Perry GA**. Association of circulating concentrations of estradiol during the preovulatory period and expression of steroidogenic enzymes in beef cows Soc Reprod Fertil Suppl 2014:610.
- Summers A, Pohlmeier W, Sargent K, Kurz S, McFee R, McNeel A, **Cushman R**, Wood J, Cupp A. Granulosa cell gene expression profiling in cows with divergent follicular fluid concentrations of androgens. SSR Special Supplement 2014.
- McNeel AK, **Cushman RA**, Snelling WM, **Perry GA**. De novo assembly and identification of unique contigs in bovine oviduct from animals with high and low estradiol concentrations during timed artificial insemination. SSR Special Supplement 2014.
- Echternkamp SE, Eborn DR, **Cushman RA**. Maternal dietary effects on embryonic development in cattle. ASAS, 2014.
- Vallet JL, **Cushman RA**, McNeel AK, Wright EC, Larimore EL, Miles JR, Chase CC Jr, Lents CA, Wood JR, Cupp AS, **Perry GA**. Global changes in uterine protein secretion are associated with differences in the number of antral follicles in heifers. Midwest Animal Science, 2014.

Chase CC Jr, **Cushman RA**, Miles JR, **Perry GA**, Sypherd DD, Wright EC, McNeel AK. Effect of high and low antral follicle count in pubertal beef heifers on in vitro fertilization. IETS 2014.

- Pfeiffer, K. E., L. J. Jury, and **J. E. Larson**. 2014. Determination of anti-Müllerian hormone at estrus during a synchronized and a natural bovine estrous cycle. Dom. Anim. Endo. 46:58-64.
- Coley, A. R., K. E. Brockus, C. G. Hart, L. V. Durst, S. R. Plank, T. Smith, J. E. Larson, B. J. Rude, and C. O. Lemley. 2014. Effects of maternal nutrient restriction during mid- to late gestation on uterine blood flow in beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 92 (E-Suppl. 3):27.

MEETING PROCEEDINGS AND PRESENTATIONS

- Fricke, P. M. and J. R. Pursley. Bovine Reproduction Education and Discussion (BRED) veterinary workshop. May 22-23, Manchester, England.
- **Fricke, P. M.**, J. O. Giordano, P. D. Carvalho, A. Valenza, G. Lopes Jr., and M. C. Amundson. 2014. Expression and detection of oestrus in dairy cows: the role of new technologies. British Society of Animal Science (BSAS) Fertility Conference, May 19-21, Westport, Ireland.
- **Fricke, P. M.** 2014. Setting up cows for first postpartum artificial insemination. Merck Animal Health Vet Meeting, May 7, Armagh, Northern Ireland.
- **Fricke, P. M.** 2014. Strategies for resynchronization of ovulation and timed AI. Merck Animal Health Vet Meeting, May 7, Armagh, Northern Ireland.
- Lucy, M. C., **P. M. Fricke**, and S. T. Butler. 2014. Using timed AI to get more pregnancies in late-calving cows. Irish Farmers Journal.
- Butler, S. T., P. M. Fricke, and M. C. Lucy. 2014. Keys to reproductive success on farm. Proc. Moorepark Dairy Levy Research Update: Breeding Strategies for an Expanding Dairy Industry. Moorepark Animal & Grassland Research and Innovation Centre Dairygold Research Farm Open Day, April 9, Fermoy, Ireland, pp. 15-22.
- **Fricke, P. M.** 2014. Reproductive challenges of high-producing dairy cows managed on pasture. CEVA Ireland PRID-E launch. February 7, Thurles, Ireland.
- Fricke, P. M. 2014. Reproduction workshop. Alta Genetics RCTC training session, March 11, Grasberg, Germany.
- Endecott, R.L., **R.N. Funston**, J.T. Mulliniks, and A.J. Roberts. 2014. Beef heifer development and lifetime productivity. *Proc. 46th Beef Improvement Federation Symposium.* Lincoln, NE. Pp. 56-62.
- Kruse, S.G., B.J. Funnell, S.L. Bird, and G.A. Bridges. 2014. Effects of change in body composition on oocyte competence. To be presented at the 9th International Ruminant Reproduction Symposium; Obihiro, Hokkaido, Japan.
- **Bridges, G.A.**, Kruse, S.G., A.K. McNeel, B.J. Funnell, S.L. Bird, and **R.A. Cushman**. 2014. Effects of change in body composition on uterine endometrium gene expression. To be presented at the 9th International Ruminant Reproduction Symposium; Obihiro, Hokkaido, Japan.
- Larimore, E.L., O.L. Swanson, S.L. Bird, A.K. McNeek, **G.A. Bridges**, **R.A. Cushman**, and **G.A. Perry**. 2014. Association of circulating concentrations of estradiol during the preovulatory period and expression of steroidogenic enzymes. To be presented at the 9th International Ruminant Reproduction Symposium; Obihiro, Hokkaido, Japan.
- Smith, MF, KG Pohler, GA Perry, and DJ Patterson. 2013. Physiological factors that affect pregnancy rate to artificial insemination in beef cattle. In: Proceedings, Applied Reproductive Strategies in Beef Cattle. October 15-16, Staunton, VA. pp. 27-45.
- Patterson, DJ, JM Thomas, and MF Smith. 2013. Control of estrus and ovulation in heifers. In: Proceedings, Applied Reproductive Strategies in Beef Cattle. October 15-16, Staunton, VA. pp. 47-79.

Patterson, DJ, JM Thomas, BE Bishop, JM Abel, and MF Smith. 2014. Control of estrus and ovulation in

heifers. In: Proceedings, Applied Reproductive Strategies in Beef Cattle. October 8-9, Stillwater, OK. In press.

- **Patterson, DJ**, JM Thomas, JM Abel, BE Bishop, JE Decker, and MF Smith. 2014. Control of estrus and ovulation in beef cows. In: Proceedings, Applied Reproductive Strategies in Beef Cattle. October 8-9, Stillwater, OK. In press.
- Lamb, G.C. 2013. Control of estrus in cows. In: Proc. 15th Applied Reproductive Strategies in Beef Cattle Staunton, VA pp 69-105.
- Lamb, G.C., and V.R.G. Mercadante. Strategies to improve fertility in fixed-time AI protocols for beef cows. 2014. In: Proc. XVIII Conference Focusing on Production and Reproduction of Cattle. Uberlandia, Brazil. http://www.conapecjr.com.br/index.php
- Lamb, G.C., V.R.G. Mercadante, and N. DiLorenzo. What do we know about feed efficiency in breeding females? 2014. In: Proc. XVIII Conference Focusing on Production and Reproduction of Cattle. Uberlandia, Brazil. http://www.conapecjr.com.br/index.php
- Stokka, G.L., R. Maddock, C.R. Dahlen, T. Petry, and C.L. Stoltenow. 2013. Livestock Stewardship: "Pregnancy checking, why should we recommend it?" In: Proc.46th Annual Conference of the American Association of Bovine Practitioners. Milwaukee, WI. pp 34-35.
- **Dahlen, C.R**. 2013. Control of Estrus with Natural Service. In: Applied Reproductive Strategies in Beef Cattle. Staunton, VA. pp 133-143.
- **Cushman RA**, McNeel AK, Tait RG Jr., Lindholm-Perry AK, **Perry GA**, Snelling WM, Bennett GL. Genetic improvement in cattle Are we sacrificing reproduction in favor of production? Soc Reprod Fertil Suppl 2014:27 36.
- **Cushman RA**, McDaneld TG, Kuehn LA, Snelling WM, Nonneman D. Incorporation of genetic technologies associated with applied reproductive technologies to enhance world food production. Adv Exp Med Biol 2014; 752:77 96.
- **Perry GA**, **Cushman RA**. Effect of age at puberty/conception date on cow longevity. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 2013; 29:579 590.

NON-REFEREED PUBLICATIONS

- Harms, J.D., R.N. Funston, L.A. Stalker, J.A. Musgrave, A.F. Applegarth, and A.F. Summers. 2014. Effects of winter supplementation on cow performance and post-weaning management on steer and heifer progeny in a late spring calving system. *Nebraska Beef Cattle Report*. Univ. Nebraska, Lincoln. MP 99:24-26.
- Summers, A.F., T.L. Meyer, M.F. Kirby, J.R. Teichert, and **R.N. Funston**. 2014. Impact of supplemental protein source on pregnant beef heifers. *Nebraska Beef Cattle Report*. Univ. Nebraska, Lincoln. 99:21-23.
- Vraspir, R.A., A.F. Summers, D. O'Hare, L.D. Rowden, and **R.N. Funston**. 2014. Comparison of long-term progestin-based synchronization protocols on fixed-time AI pregnancy rate in beef heifers. *Nebraska Beef Cattle Report*. Univ. Nebraska, Lincoln. MP 99:8-10.
- Vraspir, R.A., A.F. Summers, A.J. Roberts, and **R.N. Funston**. 2014. Effect of pubertal status and number of estrous cycles prior to the breeding season on pregnancy rate in beef heifers. *Nebraska Beef Cattle Report.* Univ. Nebraska, Lincoln. MP 99:5-7.
- Bischoff, K. T. Black, V. Mercadante, G. Marquezini, N. DiLorenzo, B. Myer, A. Adesogan, and G. Lamb.
 2013. Effects of Feeding Perennial Peanut Hay on Growth, Development, Attainment of Puberty, and Fertility in Beef Replacement Heifers. 2013 Florida Beef Report. Gainesville, FL. pp 31-38.
 http://www.animal.ifas.ufl.edu/extension/beef/beef_cattle_report/2013/documents/Bischoff.pdf

Marquezini, G., V. Mercadante, K. Waters, F. Messias, **G. Lamb**. 2013. Effects of 48 And 72-hour Temporary Calf Removal During Estrous Synchronization on Pregnancy Rates and Calf Performance in Suckled Beef Cows. 2013 Florida Beef Report. Gainesville, FL. pp 39-44. <u>http://www.animal.ifas.ufl.edu/extension/beef/beef_cattle_report/2013/documents/Marquezini.p</u> <u>df</u>

- Steichen, P.L., M.R. Schook, C.S. Schauer, B.W. Neville, and **C.R. Dahlen**. 2013. Effects of artificial insemination and natural service breeding systems on steer progeny backgrounding performance. North Dakota Beef Report: 45-47.
- Steichen, P.L., S.I. Klein, Q.P. Larson, K.M. Bischoff, V.R.G. Mercadante, G.C. Lamb, C.S. Schauer, B.W. Neville and C.R. Dahlen. 2013. Effects of natural service and artificial insemination breeding systems on calving characteristics and weaning weights. North Dakota Beef Report: 6-8.
- **Larson, J. E.**, B. E. Voelz, D. K. Hardin, and C. O. Lemley. 2013. Correlations among nutritional status of the dairy cow during early gestation and subsequent growth and cardiac measurements of her offspring. Dept. of Animal and Dairy Science Annual Report pp. 38-44.

DISSERTATION

Pulley, S. L. 2014. Hormonal Responses and Pregnancy Outcomes after Five-Day Ovulation Synchronization and Presynchronization Programs in Lactating Dairy Cows. PhD dissertation, Kansas State University, 73 p.

Roberts, C. 2014. Impact of duration of preovulatory estradiol on early embryo survival in beef cows.

Larimore, Erin. 2014 Changes in ovarian function associated with circulating concentrations of estradiol during the preovulatory period and its influence on sperm transport and embryonic development.

BOOK CHAPTERS

- Patterson, DJ, and MF Smith. 2013. Management Considerations in Beef Heifer Development and Puberty. Clinics Review Articles. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice. 29: 469-689.
- **Patterson, DJ**, and DS Brown. 2013. Rebuilding the U.S. beef herd: Rethinking the way industry develops replacements. In: Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice. 29:469-477.
- **Patterson, DJ**, JM Thomas, NT Martin, JM Nash, and MF Smith. 2013. Control of estrus and ovulation in beef heifers. In: Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice. 29:591-617.
- **Patterson, DJ**, DS Brown, WJ Sexten, JE Decker, and SE Poock. 2013. Management strategies for adding value to replacement beef heifers: A working model. In: Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice. 29: 653-666.
- **Perry, G. A**. and **R. A. Cushman**. Effect of age at puberty/conception date on cow longevity. In. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice Management considerations in beef heifer development and puberty.
- Dahlen, C.R., J.E. Larson, and G.C. Lamb. 2014. Impact of Reproductive Technologies on Beef Production in the United States. In: G.C. Lamb and N. DiLorenzo Editors, Current and future reproductive technologies and world food production. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology Volume 752. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY. p 97-114.